IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-1963

JERONE HUNTER,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

**On direct review from a decision of the Circuit Court of the
Seventh Judicial Circuit imposing a sentence of death**

**RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ.
RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A.
FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886
P.O. BOX 568005
ORLANDO, FL 32856-8005
(407) 841-7676**

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant is a black male and was 18 years-old when the crimes at issue occurred. He is the youngest person on Florida's death row.

On August 6, 2004, six people asleep in their home and a dog were beaten and killed with baseball bats or other blunt objects. The victims of the crime were Erin Belanger (22), Michelle Ann Nathan (19), Anthony Vega (34), Roberto "Tito" Gonzalez (28), Francisco Ayo Roman (30), Jonathan Gleason (18), and the dog was a Dachshund named George. Tr. 1795-96; 2944.

The alleged ringleader of the murders was Troy Victorino. It was alleged that Victorino, the defendant and others were squatting in victim Erin Belanger's grandmother's home and using it as a party house. Victorino was imprisoned on an unrelated charge and when he was in jail Belanger removed Victorino's clothes, some documents and an X-Box video game system from her grandmother's home.

Belanger's removal of Victorino's property and failure to return it when Victorino was released from jail angered Victorino and served as the impetus for the crimes at issue. Victorino enlisted the help of the defendant, Michael Salas and Robert Cannon to commit the killings. Cannon pled guilty and was not tried with the others.

Victorino, the defendant and Salas were all convicted of first degree murder. Victorino and the defendant were sentenced to death while Salas was sentenced to life imprisonment.

The defendant was convicted of conspiracy (to commit aggravated battery, murder, armed burglary of a dwelling, and tampering with physical evidence), first degree and felony murder of all six victims, abuse of the dead human bodies of three victims, and armed burglary of a dwelling with a weapon. Tr. 4021-4022.

THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL

On the morning of August 6, 2004, Christopher Carroll went to the residence at 3106 Telford Lane in Deltona, Florida. No one answered the door bell and Carroll noticed that the door had been kicked in. Carroll looked inside, saw blood and bodies, and called 911. Tr. 1976-1798, 1806.

Investigator Anthony Crane of the Volusia County Sheriff's Office was dispatched to the scene and observed six dead bodies: Two dead males in the living room (one on the floor and one on the couch), a male and a female in the master bedroom, a male in the northwest bedroom, and a female in the southwest bedroom. The dog was not immediately visible, but was there. Tr. 1815-16, 1875.

FDLE crime scene technician Stacey Colton collected a knife handle and a knife blade from the residence because there was blood on them and the victims appeared to have stab wounds. Tr. 1861. Colton testified that some of the blood stain patterns were consistent with being a contact blood pattern, as opposed to being blood spatter. Tr. 1874-1875.

Robert Cannon testified that he was indicted along with the three men on trial and that he pled guilty to murdering all six people and for abusing the dead bodies of five of the victims and pled guilty to cruelty to an animal for the death of the small Dachsund named George. He was promised a sentence of life imprisonment. Tr. 1936-1939.

Cannon then said he did not want to testify any further. The jury was removed and he told the court that he was not guilty and he will face a death sentence in lieu of testifying. Tr. 1941-1942. The jury was brought back in and Cannon said he was not guilty and that he did not want to say any more. Tr. 1948.

Cannon then said that he and Salas had to go with Victorino on the night in question because they were in fear of their lives and they had no choice. Tr. 1952. Cannon testified that Victorino, the defendant, Salas and himself were in the house that night with baseball bats. Tr. 1954. He said his attorneys made him plead guilty and implicate the others. Tr. 1963.

Cannon repeatedly refused to answer questions on cross-examination and the defense moved for a mistrial as a result. The prosecutor was allowed to lead the Cannon into saying that he went over there with the defendants with the intent to kill the people.

Further, the defense was prohibited from a proper cross-examination because he would not answer any questions. The defense was sandbagged and then handcuffed in its response. The trial court ordered Cannon to answer the defense's questions. Cannon ignored the court. Tr. 1948-1963; 2226-2242.

Brandon Graham testified that he is a friend of Robert Cannon's and Michael Salas. He also knows Troy Victorino and the defendant, whom he met on August 1, 2004. Tr. 1971-1972. On that day they all went to pick up Victorino's belongings from the Telford house. Victorino said that he wanted to fight some kids so he could get his stuff back. They all had bats. Tr. 1974-1975.

The defendant yelled for the occupants of the home to come out and fight. One of the occupants showed the defendant Victorino's CD case. Someone yelled that the police were on the way and they all left. Tr. 1976-1977.

On August 4, 2004, Victorino and the group went to a park to fight some other kids, but the other kids did not show up. The defendant had a bat. Tr. 1981-

1982. They later saw the group they had intended to fight and Victorino shot into their vehicle. Tr. 1983.

On August 5, 2004, Victorino was saying that he wished he had a group of niggers to help him kill people with lead pipes. Cannon and Salas said that they also wanted to do it. Victorino said that the defendant was also down with it because they took the defendant's stuff too. The defendant shook his head in agreement. Tr. 1986, 2012.

Victorino then started mapping out the Telford house and started to plan how to split up in order to kill the people. Victorino said he wanted to kill the guy Flaco and kill the bitches because they talked shit. The defendant suggested that they wear masks but Victorino said no because they were not going to leave any evidence behind. Tr. 1986-1987, 2032. Graham said was he was too afraid of Victorino to say anything to him when he was planning the murders. Tr. 2089.

Graham, Victorino, the defendant, Salas and Cannon were all together in Cannon's car and they all had bats. Tr. 1989. Graham asked to be dropped off at Kristopher Craddock's house and Graham did not rejoin the group later that night. He was suppose to rejoin them around 9:00 pm, because they were going to kill everyone between 9:00 pm and 10:00 pm. The group tried to call him, but he did not answer. Tr. 1992-1993.

The next morning Graham heard about the murders and he met up with the group. Graham noticed that Victorino had a Game Boy and a bunch of stuff in his truck that he had wanted back. Tr. 1995-1996. A few days later Graham told the police about everything. Tr. 1997. Kristopher Craddock confirmed Graham's version of events. Tr. 2164-2188.

Deputy John McDonald testified that on July 30, 2004, he responded to 1590 Providence Boulevard. The owner of the home lived in Maine. The owner was victim Erin Belanger's grandmother. Belanger called in and reported that there was suspicious activity at the home. Two people were found in the home who did not have permission to be there. It looked like someone was living there. Tr. 2094-2098. One of the persons said that Victorino gave her permission to be there. Tr. 2099.

Deputy Taylor D. Sierstorpf testified that on July 31, 2004, he responded to 1590 Providence Boulevard. Erin Belanger was there with Francisco Roman (both eventual victims). They reported some items missing from the residence. The deputy noticed some papers in a box and they had Victorino's name on them. Tr. 2104-2107. Belanger told the deputy that Victorino was staying in the home. Tr. 2109.

Kimberly Jenkins testified that she knew the six victims and worked with five of them at Burger King. Tr. 2115-2116. She was at Belanger's home on Telford Lane on July 31, 2004 when Victorino knocked on the door and asked for Belanger. Victorino was hostile and said that he wanted his property back. Tr. 2119-2120.

Belanger said whatever she had she would give back. Victorino said that he wanted his stuff back and by any means he would get it back. Tr. 2120-2121, 2131. Victorino said he had an X-Box, some receipts and some clothes at her grandmother's house. Tr. 2122, 2126, 2131, 2139.

Victorino had previously called the police to report that he had items stolen from him at 1590 Providence Boulevard. Tr. 2138. He could not verify that the items were actually stolen so the officer did not make a report. Victorino told the officer not to worry about it and angrily said that he would take care of this himself. Tr. 2141.

A 911 call placed by Belanger from the Telford house on the night of August 1, 2004, was played where Belanger said that men were in the house and that she needed help and this was probably from a dispute she had earlier in the day about the men wanting to retrieve their belongings. Tr. 2266-2286. Two hours

later a second 911 call was made and Belanger said the same people were back banging on her door. Tr. 2296-2299, 2308.

Law enforcement discovered a box containing papers with the name Victorino on them from Cannon's car, the vehicle allegedly used in the crime. Tr. 2452-2453, 2357.

Over repeated defense objections based on the previously denied motion to suppress [Tr. 2518, 2520], major case detective Lawrence Horzepa, testified that he interviewed the defendant. The defendant got more nervous as they continued to talk and the defendant even started to cry and shake. Tr. 2518-2519.

The defendant said he went to the house at Telford Lane on the Saturday before the night in question to find out about his missing belongings. The defendant also said he was there on the night of the murders, and he got there in Cannon's vehicle. Tr. 2523-2524. The defendant said he had an aluminum baseball bat with him and that he went inside the house. Tr. 2525.

The defendant said he saw a white male sitting in a recliner in the living room and the defendant screamed about where his stuff was and the white male said he did not know. The defendant said that he then hit the man with the bat because the defendant thought he was lying. Tr. 2526-2527.

The man tried to get up and the defendant hit him again. The defendant did not recall how many swings he took but he thought it was more than three but less than twelve. The defendant's statement corresponded to the crime scene and the condition of that victim Tr. 2526-2527. This victim was identified as Jonathan Gleason. Tr. 2529.

The defendant then saw a guy run to one of the back rooms. The guy tried to hit the defendant with a stick. The defendant swung at him and missed, but then swung again and hit the guy in the shoulder and the guy dropped the stick. The defendant then hit the guy with the bat three or four more times. The victim was later identified as Roberto Gonzalez. Tr. 2529-2530. The defendant said he looked for his missing belongings and that he did not hit anyone else in the home. Tr. 2532.

Detective Horzepa also interviewed co-defendant Mike Salas, and he said that he was also in the home and he had a baseball bat with him. Tr. 2541. Salas said that he hit the victim in bedroom two three or four times in the leg and on the arms. Tr. 2542-2543. The defendant drew a map as to where the baseball bats they used could be found. Tr. 2544. A law enforcement dive team recovered the four bats in a retention pond in the DeBary area. Tr. 2481, 2544-2545.

Corrections Officer Eunice Williams testified that Salas said he did not know how he got caught because he tied up his hair and he did not get any blood on him, and that he used a bat. Tr. 2906.

Glass fragments found in the vehicle generally matched the broken lamp found in the second bedroom in the Telford Lane home. Tr. 2610, 2623. A pair of sunglasses was found in the vehicle that had the fingerprints of victim Franciso Roman on them. Tr. 2470-2474, 2650.

No fingerprints found in the home matched any of the defendants. Tr. 2640. Fingerprints were lifted from one of the bats but none of them matched the defendants. Tr. 2659. DNA samples taken from the bats matched victims Gonzalez, Belanger and Roman. Tr. 2809-2810; 2814-2815. A hair taken from a bat matched victim Nathan. Tr. 2888-2889.

Law enforcement found a box for size 12 Lugz boots in the vehicle that had Victorino's fingerprints on them. Tr. 2454-2457; 2642. Law enforcement attained a footwear impression from a pay stub found in the home and it matched Victorino's left boot. Tr. 2679. An impression from a bed sheet also matched the boot. Tr. 2693.

Law enforcement also took an impression from the front door that was kicked in which matched the right boot. Tr. 2705. A DNA sample taken from the

boots matched Victorino. Tr. 2786. Blood found on Victorino's boots matched victims Belanger and Roman. Tr. 2794; 2801-2802.

A shoelace tested by law enforcement contained a mixture of DNA from the defendant and victim Gonzalez, indicating that the defendant was in a place where Gonzalez's blood was shed. Tr. 2890-2892.

On the night of the murders, Miranda Torres saw all of the defendants and Cannon together in Cannon's vehicle. Cannon said he could not talk because they had to handle something real quick. Tr. 2928-2929.

The defense stipulated that the Daschund died of blunt force trauma. Tr. 2944, 2947, 2951. The dog had a crushed skull. Tr. 2956.

Chief Medical Examiner Thomas Beaver testified that Vega died of blunt force trauma to the head after about two blows to the head which were consistent with a baseball bat. Tr. 3011-3013. Gleason died of blunt force trauma after at least three blows to the head by a cylindrical object consistent with a baseball bat. Tr. 3027-3028.

The medical examiner testified that Gonzalez died of blunt force trauma to the head. Tr. 3048. Nathan died of blunt force trauma after three or four blows to the head. Tr. 3058-3059. Roman died of blunt force trauma and had post-mortem stab wounds. Tr. 3063, 3066.

The sixth victim, Belanger, also suffered from blunt force trauma, Tr. 3073, had post-mortem stab wounds, Tr. 3070, and was impaled with an object consistent with a baseball bat up through her vagina and into her abdominal cavity. Tr. 3071-3074.

The medical examiner opined that the baseball bat blows on the victims were pre-mortem and were painful. Tr. 3091. The State then rested. Tr. 3100.

The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal in that the State did not meet its burden of proof on all 14 counts charged in the indictment and renewed all of the defendant's oral and written motions. The trial court denied the motions. Tr. 3104-3105.

The defense made its opening statement after the prosecution rested. The defense argued that the defendant was taken in by Victorino and Victorino bullied and threatened him into committing the murders and feared for the safety of himself and his family. Tr. 3330-3333. The defendant then testified in this regard.

The defendant said he was born on 5/31/86 and was 18 years-old on the day in question. Tr. 3343-3344. The defendant said that he did not kill anyone, he did not hit anyone in the head, and they were only there to rough them up. Tr. 3343-3441.

Victorino also testified that the defendant was 18 years-old at the time of the crime. Tr. 3234. Subsequently, all of the defendants rested their case.

VERDICTS

In summary, all three defendants were convicted of conspiracy, burglary of a dwelling with a weapon, and the murders of all six victims. In addition, Victorino was found guilty of killing the dog and abusing the dead body of Belanger. The defendant was convicted of abusing the dead bodies of Gonzalez, Gleason and Vega. As for the specific findings as to each defendant:

Troy Victorino was convicted of conspiracy (to commit aggravated battery, murder, armed burglary of a dwelling, and tampering with physical evidence) (count one); first degree premeditated and felony murders of Erin Belanger, Francisco Ayo-Roman, Jonathan W. Gleason, Roberto Manuel Gonzalez, Michelle Ann Nathan, and Anthony Vega (counts two to seven); abuse of the dead human body of Erin Belanger (count eight); armed burglary of a dwelling with a weapon (count thirteen); and cruelty to an animal (count fourteen). Victorino was found not guilty on counts nine through twelve. Tr. 4017-4019.

The defendant was convicted of conspiracy (to commit aggravated battery, murder, armed burglary of a dwelling, and tampering with physical evidence) (count one); first degree premeditated and felony murders of Erin Belanger, Francisco Ayo-Roman, Jonathan W. Gleason, Roberto Manuel Gonzalez, Michelle Ann Nathan, and Anthony Vega (counts two to seven); abuse of the dead human bodies of Roberto Manuel Gonzalez, Jonathan W. Gleason and Anthony Vega (counts ten through twelve); and armed burglary of a dwelling with a weapon (count thirteen). The defendant was found not guilty on counts eight, nine, and fourteen. Tr. 4021-4022.

Michael Salas was convicted of conspiracy (to commit aggravated battery, murder, armed burglary of a dwelling, and tampering with physical evidence) (count one); first degree premeditated and felony murders of Erin Belanger, Francisco Ayo-Roman, Jonathan W. Gleason, Roberto Manuel Gonzalez, Michelle Ann Nathan, and Anthony Vega (counts two to seven); and armed burglary of a dwelling with a weapon (count thirteen). Salas was found not guilty on counts eight through twelve and count fourteen. Tr. 4024-4026.

THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL

The defense asked that the defendant be deemed incompetent to proceed before the trial began. The trial court ruled in favor of the State's experts and found him competent.

During the testimony of the State's last witness, the medical examiner, the defendant's attorney apprised the court that the defendant was not able to meaningfully participate in his defense. The defendant had been given paper to communicate to his attorneys with and this has often been gibberish – and not even in the English language. The defense asked that he be examined again. Tr. 3031-3037. The defendant was re-evaluated and the defense said it was satisfied that the defendant could proceed. Tr. 3341-3342.

Dr. Alan S. Berns testified that he is a board certified clinical psychiatrist. Tr. 4597, 4599. The defendant's father was diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia. There is a history of mental illness on both the paternal and maternal sides of the family. The mother had been hospitalized for depression and suicidal ideation, and she may also be schizophrenic because she hears voices too Tr. 4603-04.

The defendant also had a maternal uncle and a maternal aunt with mental problems. Tr. 4604-05. The defendant was interviewed and he suffered from depression and a history of alcohol and marijuana abuse. He once had a premonition about the future. Tr. 4606. The defendant is schizophrenic. Schizophrenia is one of the more debilitating mental illnesses. It is a disorder of thought. People can hear voices and become delusional with paranoid themes. Tr. 4608, 4614.

Schizophrenics have difficulty solving problems and when combined with alcohol and marijuana abuse, it only increases the impairment. Tr. 4609. In some cases schizophrenics attach themselves to figures of authority or leadership. Tr. 4610. The defendant has heard voices. Tr. 4612. The defendant had not been diagnosed with schizophrenia before and has never received treatment for it. Tr. 4613.

The defendant's mother testified that the defendant's father abused her mentally and physically, and the defendant would observe this. Tr. 4633-34. The defendant's stepfather was addicted to crack. Tr. 4635. Both parents would inflict corporal punishment and beat the defendant until he was 13 years-old. Tr. 4636. The defendant started talking to himself and some other imaginary person, when he was 3 or 4 years-old. The defendant was a loner. Tr. 4637-38.

The defendant had an identical twin brother who passed away, and the defendant would speak with him. Tr. 4638-39. The defendant also has an older brother, Elisha Hunter, Jr., who testified that the defendant used to talk to his dead twin brother and play with his dead twin brother. Tr. 4651. The step-father would whip the defendant with a belt. Tr. 4654.

The defendant's uncle, Johnny Bowles, testified that defendant still talks to his twin brother today. Tr. 4662. The defendant's father was locked up in a mental institution. Tr. 4664.

Dr. Eric Mings, a forensic psychologist specializing in neuropsychology, testified that he would have to repeat his questions to the defendant and the defendant took a long time to answer his questions. Tr. 4685. The defendant could not express himself and appeared confused. Tr. 4698.

The defendant thought about killing himself in the past. He admitted that he has heard voices. Tr. 4685-86. The defendant has an IQ of 91, which is at the lower end of average. Tr. 4688. The defendant has elevated depression, paranoia, and schizophrenia. He has a psychotic mental disorder. Tr. 4694-95.

The defendant's mother admitted to a family history of mental illness. Tr. 4700. The mother said that the defendant's father was extremely violent. Tr. 4702.

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