IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1963

JERONE HUNTER Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

Cannon's testimony was extremely brief, and amounted to little more than the statement that Hunter, Cannon, Victorino and Salas entered the house where the murders took place and that all were armed with baseball bats. (V28, R1954). That testimony is entirely consistent with Hunter's confession, and is far less detailed than that confession. (V32, R2523-33; V38,

R3374-3441). Assuming for the sake of argument that there was some error, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Further, Hunter did not attempt to cross examine Cannon, and never moved for a mistrial based upon Cannon's claimed refusal to testify. Whatever claim Hunter may have had, it is not preserved for review because there was no timely objection.

To the extent that Hunter claims that the State "knew" that Cannon would refuse to testify, that suggestion is rebutted by the findings of the trial court when that issue was addressed below in response to argument by one of the co-defendants. (V 30, R2240-41). Finally, to the extent that Hunter's suggests that the trial court should have granted a mistrial *sua sponte*, nothing that took place rose to the level of requiring a mistrial, and, had the trial court followed that course of action, double jeopardy might well have barred a retrial. Granting a mistrial is a drastic step, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not taking it. There is no basis for relief.

V. THE INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL CLAIM

On pages 30-34 of his brief, Hunter argues that his trial counsel were ineffective for not moving to strike the testimony of co-defendant Cannon. Ineffectiveness of counsel claims are normally cognizable only in post-conviction relief proceedings,

for the fundamental reason that the testimony of trial counsel is usually needed in order to reach a fair resolution of such claims. Lawrence v. State/McDonough, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S699 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2007); Stewart v. Crosby, 880 So. 2d 529, 532 (Fla. 2004); Gore v. State, 784 So. 2d 418, 437-438 (Fla. 2001); McMullen v. State, 876 So. 2d 589, 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); See also, United States v. Almaguer, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 20105, 14-15 (5th Cir. 2007); United States v. Greer, 440 F.3d 1267, 1272 (11th Cir. 2006). Without knowing the thought processes of Hunter's attorneys, it is simply impossible to determine what strategic and tactical reasons were involved in the decision not to cross-examine Cannon. In any event, Hunter was not prejudiced by Cannon's testimony - the same matters that Cannon testified about came before the jury in far greater detail through Hunter's own confession.

To the extent that Hunter claims that there are other instances of ineffectiveness of counsel to be found in the other claims raised on appeal, for the reasons set out in the argument with respect to each claim, there is no basis for relief. Finally, Hunter has chosen to raise his ineffectiveness of counsel claims on direct appeal. While that is not the most efficient forum for such claims, it is the one Hunter has chosen. Because that is so, and because he has presumably raised such ineffectiveness claims as he deems appropriate, he is

procedurally barred from relitigating those ineffectiveness claims in a post-conviction relief motion. Likewise, he is procedurally barred from litigating additional specifications of ineffectiveness of counsel in a subsequent motion because those claims could have been but were not raised on direct appeal.

VI.THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL CLAIM

On page 35 of his brief, Hunter argues that his motion for judgment of acquittal should have been granted. The standard of review for the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal is whether the verdict is supported by competent substantial evidence. Crump v. State, 622 So. 2d 963, 971 (Fla. 1993) (question of whether evidence fails to exclude any reasonable hypothesis of innocence is for jury to determine, and if there is substantial, competent evidence to support jury verdict, verdict will not be reversed on appeal); Tibbs v. State, 397 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), aff'd, 457 U.S. 31 (1982) (concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is competent, substantial evidence to support the verdict). Hunter cannot overcome the evidence supporting the verdict.

The evidence from trial is set out in detail in the statement of the facts, *supra*, and will not be repeated here.

For purposes of this claim, it is sufficient to emphasize that Hunter and his co-defendants discussed and planned the assault on the Telford Lane house; that they armed themselves with baseball bats and planned to obtain replacement clothing; that the front door to the Telford Lane house was kicked open, revealing a shoeprint consistent with shoes owned by Victorino; that Hunter entered the residence first, armed with a baseball bat; that blood from one of the victims was found on the lace of Hunter's shoe; that Hunter confessed to striking various victims with a baseball bat; and that all six victims died as a result of blunt force trauma to the head, inflicted with an object consistent with a baseball bat. That evidence is sufficient to present a question for the jury, and, in light of the direct evidence in the form of Hunter's confession, takes this case out of the more defense-friendly circumstantial evidence standard of review. The evidence is more than sufficient to overcome a motion for judgment of acquittal, and that motion was properly denied. There is no basis for relief.

VII. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SEVER

On pages 36-37 of his brief, Hunter argues that the trial court should have severed Hunter's case from the co-defendants cases. The denial or granting of a motion for severance is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Fotopoulos v. State*, 608 So. 2d 784, 790 (Fla. 1992) (granting a severance is largely a

matter within the trial court's discretion); Crossley v. State, 596 So. 2d 447, 450 (Fla. 1992) (noting that standard of review for cases involving the consolidation or severance of charges is one of abuse of discretion); Bateson v. State, 761 So. 2d 1165, 1169 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (noting that denial of a motion for severance is reviewed for abuse of discretion).

In denying the motion to sever, the trial court made detailed findings:

Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 3.152, provides for the severance of offenses and defendants. In particular, subsection (b) deals with severance of defendants and provides in subsection (1) that on motion of the State or defendant, the court shall order a severance of defendants and separate trials: (a) before trial on a showing that the order is necessary to protect the defendant's right to a speedy trial, <u>or is appropriate to promote a fair</u> <u>determination of guilt or innocence of one or more</u> defendants (emphasis added).

For separate offenses to be tried together, they must be connected in a "significant way." Stephens v. State, 863 So.2d 436. This case clearly presents a casual link between the offenses as required by Ellis v. State, 622 So.2d 991 (Fla. 1993), and satisfies Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 3.150(a). Clearly these offenses are "connected acts or transactions" since they allegedly occurred within a single episode. Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994). Factors relevant to this finding involve (1) temporal and geographical association with crimes; (2) the nature of the crimes; (3) that the crimes involve the same victim; and (4) the manner in which the crimes were committed. See Domis v. State, 755 So.2d 683 (4th DCA 1999). This court finds these defendants and counts have been properly joined.

In this particular case the State has recognized the defendant's right of confrontation in that the State's

to Defendant's Motion Response to Sever Trial indicates that it will not offer the written, video, audio, transcribed or telephonic intercepted versions of the statement specifically objected to by each of the defendants in their motions to sever. The State goes on to point out that it will offer direct testimony by the persons who received the statements in such a way that the witnesses will not offer any testimony directly or by inference in reference to any co-defendant. Attached to the State's Response was the detail of what essentially is a redactation of what the State intends to offer as to Mr. Cannon, Mr. Hunter, and Mr. Salas. There was no redactation as to any statements made by Mr. Victorino which the State asserts it could not do based on the fact that Mr. Victorino has denied any participation in the case.

The State's proposition is that it can accomplish the goal of redacting or editing any statements made by the defendants for purposes of admissions against interests at time of trial by presenting the evidence through the actual questioners that this court characterizes as an oral redactation that appears to allow the presentation of information in much more abbreviated form and, therefore, in the form much less likely to be confusing or harmful to any non-speaking defendant in the sense that the jury is not left to try to interpret the context of the much more lengthy statements. This court concludes that the presentation by the State allows the court to proceed with a joint trial at which evidence of the statements will be admitted after all references to the moving defendants have been deleted, provided the court determines that admission of the evidence with deletions will not prejudice the defendant. By this conclusion the court makes no evidentiary determination or determination as to foundation which would have to take place in the context of the trial. In other words the court is making no ruling that these statements are admissible, that the prerequisites for admission have been made or any indication as to how it will rule but merely concludes that the presentation made by the State allows the court to proceed as provided by Rule 3.152(b)(2)(B).

The State's Response with attachments appears to comply with Rule 3.152 which is designed to deal with

Bruton issues. As pointed out in Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 107 S.Ct. 1702, 95 L.Bd.2d 176 (1987), the court held "that the Confrontation Clause [was] not violated by the admission of the non-testif5ting co-defendant's confession with a proper limiting instruction when, [as there] the confession is redacted to eliminate not only the defendant's name but any reference to his or her existence." As a result the Motions to Sever based on statements made by co-defendants' implication of other defendants is denied.

. . .

The issue framed above was not raised in those terms but was expressed during the course of the hearing as an additional ground or a ground incorporating the others which should be viewed in combination with the other reasons for the severance in regard to this court's determination. This particular ground incorporates the others in that the case could be complicated and lengthy in its duration. From а practical standpoint there is surely some number of defendants that might support this argument. However, since the hearing on the Motions to Sever, one of the defendants, Robert Canton, has pleaded guilty to all counts of the indictment and the trial now involves only three defendants. Cases with three defendants with multiple counts are matters that are regularly handled in Florida courts and do not seem to rise to the level of due process concerns standing alone or in combination with the other issues raised.

In Gordon v. State, 863 So.2d 1215, the court, dealing with post-judgment issue concluded that "where codefendants are tried together on a capital charge, there being no ground for a severance of the guilt or innocence phase of the trial, it is proper for the court to proceed with a joint sentencing trial so that the same jury that heard all of the guilt phase evidence can consider and weigh the roles and culpability of the defendants. Citing Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So.2d 927, the language in that case indicates that if the case is appropriate for a single trial for multiple defendants on multiple charges, it is more appropriate that the same jury consider the relative culpability as one of the features of the

. . .

penalty phase in a single trial rather than in multiple trials which appears to be the law governing that issue. The court has, therefore, concluded that without a severance of the guilt-innocence phase, the case should proceed to trial on all issues and if two or more of the defendant are found guilty of capital murder the sentencing jury should hear those matters in a single hearing.

(V4, R591-597).

Those findings demonstrate that there was no abuse of discretion, and there is no basis for relief.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, Hunter's claim that he "could not cross-examine Salas on what he said about the bats" is not supported by the record, which indicates that no testimony in the form of a statement by Salas said anything about **Hunter's** bat. (V32, R2544). Any claim to the contrary is not borne out by the record. There is no basis for relief.

VIII. THE "AND/OR" JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

On page 38 of his brief, Hunter claims that it was error to use the phrase "and/or" between the names of the defendants in the guilt stage jury instructions. Co-defendant Salas raised this claim on appeal from his convictions, and the Fifth District Court of Appeal rejected that claim, and held that the "verdicts reflect individualized analysis by the jury of the charges against each defendant," and found harmless error. Salas v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly D2942 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 14, 2007).

In earlier decisions, the Fifth District Court of Appeal, as well as three other district courts, have held that fundamental error cannot be found in the absence of an examination of all of the facts and circumstances of the case. See, Garzon v. State, 939 So. 2d 278, 285 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), rev. pending, Garzon v. State, Case No. SC06-2235 (a proper approach to fundamental error considers the jury instructions as a whole, in the context of the case that was tried; a proper approach does not nitpick at the instructions to manufacture a fundamental error that was overlooked by the participants at trial); Zeno v. State, 922 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) (a determination of whether these instructions constituted fundamental error requires a full review of the record on appeal - new appeal granted so appellate counsel can present this issue); compare, Harris v. State, 937 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006) (we conclude that the use of the "and/or" conjunction in the instruction to the jury resulted in fundamental error based on the totality of the circumstances) (emphasis supplied).

The reasoning of the Fifth District in Salas is correct, and it follows the analysis that should be undertaken by this Court in resolving this claim. Under all of the facts and circumstances of this case, including the record, the instructions as a whole, the verdicts and the theory of prosecution, reversible error did not occur. Salas v. State, 32

Fla. L. Weekly D2942 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 14, 2007). To be fundamental error, an erroneous jury instruction "must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." *Garzon*, 939 So.2d at 282, quoting *State v. Delva*, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991). The purpose of the general rule prohibiting the use of the "and/or" language is to prevent one defendant from being improperly convicted for the criminal conduct of another; if the purpose for the rule is not served in a particular case, the rule may be inapplicable. *Tolbert v. State*, 922 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 2006). Under the facts of this case, the evil sought to be avoided is simply not present, and, in light of the explicit instruction that the charges and evidence against each defendant must be separately considered, there is no error here.

The determination of whether fundamental error occurred requires that the and/or instructions be examined in the context of the other jury instructions, the attorneys' arguments and the evidence in the case to decide whether the verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. *Garzon*, 939 So. 2d 278. The Third District has also recognized that where there is a material distinction between the cases of codefendants, a new trial need not be granted because the error in giving a jury instruction with the

"and/or" conjunction can be harmless error. *Lloyd v. Crosby*, 917 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005).

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